CITY OF ELIZABETH CITY
PLANNING COMMISSION
REGULAR MEETING
TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 2, 2021
4:00 PM

MEMBERS PRESENT

Ernest Sutton - Chairman
Johnson Biggs - Vice Chairman
Suzanne Stallings

Gary White

Also present were Deborah Malenfant, InterimyDirector of Community Development;
Kellen Long, Planner; Brian Hall, Secretary to the Commission; and applicants and
members of the audience.

Chairman Sutton called the meeting to order‘at,approximately 4:00°PM and stated a
quorum.

Chairman Sutton called for a motion to approve the agenda as presented. Commissioner
White made a motion to APPROVE the agenda as presented. Commissioner Biggs
seconded the motiond ALL IN FAVOR: BIGGS, STALLINGS, AND WHITE. NONE
OPPOSED. MOTION CARRIED.

Chairman Sutton called for a mation to approve the Tuesday, December 1, 2020 Planning
Commissionsminutes. Commissioner Stallings made a motion to APPROVE the Tuesday,
December 1, 2020 Planning Commission minutes. Commissioner White seconded the
motion. ALL IN FAVOR: BIGGS, STALLINGS AND WHITE. NONE OPPOSED.
MOTION CARRIED.

Mr. Hall, secretary to the Commission read the STATEMENT OF DISCLOSURE
as follows:

Elizabeth City Code of Ethics provides that public officials and employees be independent,
impartial, and responsibleto the public; that government decisions and policy be made
in proper channels of the governmental structure; that public office not be used for
personal gain; and that the public have confidence in the integrity of its government. In
recognition of these goals and in keeping with the ethical standards of conduct for city
public officials and its employees, disclosure of interest in legislative action must be stated
for public record, as per City of Elizabeth City Code of Ordinances Section 32.04. Any
official act or action before the Planning Commission shall be publicly disclose on the
record of the Commission the nature and extent of such interest and the Commissioner

Page 1 of 11
Planning Commission Minutes
Tuesday, February 2, 2021



shall withdraw from any consideration of the matter if excused by the Commission
pursuant to G. S. 160A-75.

Chairman Sutton stated that the first new business item as follows:

e CASE NO.: RZ 01-21, filed by Woda Cooper Development, Inc. to rezone
two parcels (891311554922 and 891311551821) located at the northeast corner
of Walker Ave. and Renaissance Circle from (GB) General Business to (AD)
Apartment District. The Woda Cooper Development group is proposing
the rezoning request for the future constructionfof apartments.

Planner Long presented the following report on RZ 01-21.:

Planner Long stated that the Woda Cooper development group'is proposing the rezoning
request for the future development of apartments. The 3.5-acre track is comprised of
two separate parcels and located north of Walker Avenue, bounded by approximately
350 feet of existing railroad running adjacent t@ oene of the subject properties The two
parcel track is located within the(city's municipal limits.

The joint Elizabeth City Pasquotank'County kand Use Plan, (LUP) classifies both parcels
as having a future land use classification of ‘medium to high density residential. The
medium to high density residential classification.is intended to delineate lands where the
predominate land dise is highen density single family“residential development and or
multifamily development.

Planner Longrexplained thatSome manufactured home parks are also located in this
classification. The residentialdensity in this elassification ranges from approximately four
(4) to'seven (7) single family homes per acre with the multifamily densities ranging from
12 to 25'units per acre. Land uses within the medium/high density residential designated
areas are generally compatible witha residential and apartment zoning districts.

Cluster developments are encouraged for this land use. Incompatible land uses include
industrial and commercial uses, with the exception of neighborhood commercial uses.
Both public water and sewer services are required to support the residential densities in
this classification. Streets with a capacity to accommodate higher traffic volumes are
also necessary to support medium to high density residential development.

Planner Long stated that when making the determination to approve or deny rezoning,
the planning staff considers the following aspects of the area: the zoning pattern;
adjacent land uses; the joint Elizabeth City and Pasquotank County Land Use Plan (LUP),
the impacts on road and city services such as utilities and fire protection. Planning staff
also takes into account the impact that rezoning will have on adjacent property owners
and neighbors.

Page 2 of 11
Planning Commission Minutes
Tuesday, February 2, 2021



The proposed apartment complex will be subject to additional review by the city's
Technical Review Committee after a formal site plan is received by the Planning
Department.

Planner Long expressed that after careful consideration of the aforementioned elements,
staff is of the opinion that the proposed rezoning request is appropriate for the area and
is consistent with the Advanced Core Land Use Plan and future land use designation.
Staff recommends approval of this application with the following consistency statement:

"The proposed rezoning request from General Business (GB) to Apartment District (AD)
for the following parcel IDs, 891311551821 and 891311554922 is found to be consistent
with the mediumy/high density residential futureland use as stated in the Pasquotank
County Elizabeth City 2012 Core Land Use Plan.”

Planner Long briefly presented images of the future land use map in, which the shaded
areas depicted medium to high density residential, and an,aerial view showed where the
two sites would be placed.

Applicant Denis Blackburn, the Senior Vice President of Woda Cooper Development,
gave a brief overview of the company. Applicant Blackburn expressed Woda Cooper’s
desire for the development to be utilized\for general.occupancy. This development would
provide housing for.occupants of all ages in which there will be 60 units total, Mr.
Blackburn stated.

Applicant Blackburn stated that there would'be a mixture between one-bedroom, two-
bedroom,«and three-bedroom units. "Fhe facility contains a specific multipurpose
community building, a\fitness center, alongwwith a collective laundry facility. Each unit
will possess their own individual'washer and dryer hookups, all while containing electrical
central heat,and air conditioning. Units will have LVT floors throughout, a 16 square foot
unit per individual unit, and the ENERGY STAR rating on all appliances.

Applicant Blackburnigave the Commission the floor for inquiries and comments.

Commissioner White “inquired about the intent upon which income level this
development would be seeking.

Planner Long stated for the record that the Commission could not consider such question
in their recommendation.

Commissioner White rescinded his question.

Applicant Blackburn briefly expressed that was comfortable addressing the question. Mr.
Blackburn stated that the development is income restricted, being reserved for

Page 3 of 11
Planning Commission Minutes
Tuesday, February 2, 2021



individuals and families earning up to 40-50 percent of the area’s medium income.

Commissioner Stallings inquired about the adjacent buildings/businesses surrounding
the area.

Planner Long briefly explained the adjacent buildings/businesses included a daycare,
and single and multifamily developments.

Vice Chairman Biggs asked if there had been any feedback from the adjacent property
owners in regard to this matter.

Planner Long explained that letters were sent to all adjacent property owners within 100
feet of the subject properties, and that there was an ad published in the local newspaper
in regards to this meeting. Planner Long alsosstated that an‘ad was also advertised on
Channel 11 and a sign had been posted onssite of the subject properties.

Planner Long stated from the advertisementthat they had received one.inquiry from an
adjacent property owner. The adjacent property. owner had further questiens regarding
the proposed development mentioned.in the rezoning. Planner Long stated that a copy
of the applicant’s application and staff’s analysis was'sent to the adjacent property and
that no further questions or comments were received afterwards for the commission to
consider. Planner Long stated for the'record that'additional advertisements and letters
would be sent ahead«of the public hearing if recommended for approval.

Chairman Sutton asked Applicant Blackburn about the company’s most recent project
that they had completed:

Applicant Blackburn answered by stating that their last project was in Greenville, North
Carolina.and was named,"Old Flat Out Place.”

Commissioner, Stallings spoke of the “Tulley Place” property that was previously
developed by. Woda Cooper. She acknowledged how that particular facility was
developed well with numerous amenities that were beneficial to occupants including a
park setting, quality landscaping, and a fountain.

Applicant Blackburn delved into more detail about his company. Applicant Blackburn
explained that Woda Cooper has developed over 350 different properties, maintaining
ownership overall those properties except for one of which they sold. Woda Cooper
boasts having their own management staff on site and remaining a privately owned
company, with Jeff Woda and David Cooper comprising the company’s hierarchy.

Applicant Blackburn further explained how Woda Cooper has properties in humerous
other areas such as Roanoke Rapids, New Bern, Rocky Mount, and Zebulon.

Page 4 of 11
Planning Commission Minutes
Tuesday, February 2, 2021



This concluded the Commission’s discussion.
Chairman Sutton asked if there was a motion on the floor for case humber RZ 01-21

Commissioner Biggs made a motion to approve case RZ 01-21. Commissioner Stallings
seconded the motion. ALL IN FAVOR: BIGGS, STALLINGS, AND WHITE. NONE
OPPOSED. MOTION CARRIED.

Chairman Sutton stated the second new business item as.follows:

e The second case was TA 01-21 filed by Mark‘and Jennifer Napolitano to amend
the City’s Unified Development Ordinance (UDO), specifically the permitted use
table found in ARTICLE IX and the development'standards found in ARTICLE
XI section 4.50.1 to allow microbreweries in several @@mmercial zoning districts.

Planner Long gave the following report on' TA 01-21:

Planner Long stated that prior to®2017, microbreweries were not includedywithin the
City’s Permitted Use Table as they were not included in the majority of the small towns
in eastern North Carolina. As the trend ofimicrobreweries and the craft beer industry
expanded in North Carolina, the city was appreached by several individuals who were
interested in the establishment of the microbreweries in Elizabeth City.

Planner Long explained that in 2017 City'Council officially adopted a text amendment
to allow for microbreweries and brewpubs'in the City’s Permitted Use Table. From this
text amendment in 2017, definitions were established for each use, along with the
necessary revisions,needed in the Permitted Use, Table. Development standards were
established to reflect that microbreweries and brewpubs were allowed with a Special
Use Permit in the centrahbusiness,zoning district.

Planner Long,in reference'to.other capable uses, explained that although bars,
taverns, and night clubs are considered a different use, they also require a Special Use
Permit. In order for,one to aobtain a Special Use Permit, said applicant must submit a
Special Use Permit application that will first be heard at the cCty’s Technical Review
Committee (TRC) meeting.

Planner Long gave a brief review of what the TRC meeting consists of.

Planner Long further explained that after the application is approved by the TRC, the
application then comes to the planning commission for review and recommendation and
then the application is sent to the City’s board of adjustment for a quasi-judicial
hearing. During this hearing the board will take the City’s development standards and
compare the proposed business establishment to said standards. The board can only

Page 5 of 11
Planning Commission Minutes
Tuesday, February 2, 2021



approve the application if they feel that the proposed business meets all development
standards as required in the city’s ordinance.

Planner Long briefly recalled a recent encounter with a citizen whom requested
information regarding the use of microbreweries and why they were allowed in the central
business zoning district and no other commercial zoning districts.

Planner Long explained that based on the staff’s research of the text amendment adopted
in 2017 and research of other municipalities, it was determined that at the time of the
proposed text amendment in 2017, the city was solely focused on using the allowed use
of microbreweries as a catalyst for economic developmehnt in the City’s downtown area.

Planner Long stated based on this research, staff has,proposed a consistent permit
requirement for microbreweries outside of the Central Business (CB) zoning district in the
following Commercial Districts; General Business (GB), Highway Business (HB), Light
Industrial (I-1), and Planned Unit Development —Mixed Use District (PDM).

Planner Long explained that while microbreweries are similar in useyto bars, they must
include the use of manufacturing, as it is required that‘such use produce onsite. With
the variation of this use, staff will note that ‘not. _ene municipality researched had a
consistent group of zoning districtsathat microbreweries were allowed. Overall, the
consensus included that all commercial‘and,industrial'zoning districts allow for the use of
a microbrewery.

Planner Long stated that when considering the appropriate ‘commercial zoning districts,
staff considered zoning districts\that already allowed thewuse of a bar, tavern, and night
club. With microbreweries only. being allowed in the central business zoning district at
this time, and with there being no current parking regulations for the central business
zoning distrietpstaff had to. Consider, this requirement as part of the proposed text
amendment.

Planner Long expressed that based on research from other municipalities and the current
parking standards for other,uses in the city’s off-street parking requirements, staff has
proposed aparking standard that is currently consistent with parking standards for bars,
taverns, and night clubs that are outside the central business zoning district.

Planner Long concluded that staff recommends APPROVAL of the proposed text
amendment TA 01-21% and for City Council to approve the following consistency
statement:

"The City Council of the City of Elizabeth City finds the action to amend the text in
Article 9, Section 9-3.1 (Permitted Use Table), Article 11, section 2.1 (Off-Street
Parking and Stacking Requirements), and Article 11, section -4.50.1 of the Unified
Development Ordinance to be consistent with the 2012 Pasquotank County, Elizabeth
City Advanced Core Land Use Plan based on the following policy:”

B. Elizabeth City Land Use Compatibility Policies
12. It is the policy of Elizabeth City to ensure consistency of land use and development
Page 6 of 11

Planning Commission Minutes
Tuesday, February 2, 2021



proposals with the goals, objectives, and policies of the adopted Land Use Plan.
Planner Long briefly went over an image of the permanent use table.
Commissioner White inquired upon the Special Use Permit process.

Planner Long explained how microbreweries have to go through the Special Use Permit
process, and how the process itself takes up to 120 days to reach completion.

Planner Long discussed the parking requirements in regards to the available capacity
of parking spaces for microbreweries.

Commissioner White asked whether the microbreweries were able to go to any
particular commercial zone.

Planner Long responded by saying no, that microbreweries would have to adhere by all
the development standards just as those in the.central business district,would have to.
She also stated that if the text amendment was passed that microbreweries would only
be allowed, with special use permit, the commercial district she was purposing, along
with central business.

Chairman Sutton asked if there were any additional questions.in response to the case
Planner Long presentéed.

Commissioner White raised the'question of what type of company the applicant was
interested in pursuing.

Applicant Napolitano stated that they are not,a beer company, but a craft beer
company.

Planner Long explained that although the definition of a microbrewery was not included
in the text amendment due to the amendment not changing, that microbreweries is
defined as having to, produce its product on site.

Commissioner Stallings asked about the proposed use of distilleries in general,
referencing areas such asthe Outer Banks.

Planner Long stated the City currently did not have anything on the books for
distilleries, other than wholesale products.

Planner Long followed up by briefly explaining the process for gaining approval from the
ABC Board and how Community Development Department is integrated in that process
as well.

Page 7 of 11
Planning Commission Minutes
Tuesday, February 2, 2021



Chairman Sutton asked the Applicant about the true definition of a microbrewery.

Applicant Napolitano stated that a microbrewery is a brewery that produces less than
20,000 barrels of beer per year.

Planner Long followed up on the question by stating that the amount of barrels
produced is what differentiates a brewery from a microbrewery.

Commissioner White inquired about the maximum alcohol content.

Applicant Napolitano responding by saying that he does not believe there is a maximum
limit. Applicant Napolitano stated that in a more “technical” terminology, their
establishment could be considered as more of a “Nano brewery” due to the size they
are seeking.

Commissioner White asked the applicant about where his intent to establish would be.

Applicant Napolitano stated that they are looking at twio of the suites where the Verizon
by Wal-Mart is located. Applicant Napelitano also mentioned the strip mall area behind
Big Daddy’s near the baseball fields as anether possible.area.

Commissioner White expressed concern,over the Big Daddy‘s\location Applicant
Napolitano presentedfstating that there would be limited exposure.

Applicant Napolitano explained that they were also looking into some of the units
around the Halstead Blvdarea.

Commissioner Stallings.inquired, if the building where Rookies Sports Bar used to reside
was still in operation, as she felt that would be a good facility to utilize.

Applicant Napelitano responded by saying that Rookies Sports Bar would be a perfect
location, however. it has now become a church.

Chairman Sutton opened the floor for questions and comments.

Vice Chairman Biggs asked for clarification of whether this amendment would allow for
anyone to have a microbrewery outside of downtown Elizabeth City.

Planner Long affirmed his inquiry and stated that the same process would be followed
to retrieve the same permit, but with the parking standard due to central business not
have said standard.

Interim Director Malenfant explained how our community has proceeded in a different
manner in comparison to other communities in regard to this matter. The majority of

Page 8 of 11
Planning Commission Minutes
Tuesday, February 2, 2021



microbreweries begin in the industrial and general business districts, and then are later
allowed into the downtown central business district. We, however, started in our
central business district and are expanding outwards, thus is makes sense to allow
microbreweries in these specific zoning districts.

Chairman Sutton stated that if there were no further questions or comments that a
motion could be entertained for case TA 01-21.

Commissioner White made a motion to approve the request. Motion was seconded by
Vice Chairman Biggs. ALL IN FAVOR: WHITE, BIGGS, STALLINGS. NONE
OPPOSED. MOTION CARRIED.

Applicant thanked the Commission for their time.

Chairman Sutton moved on to the first item of the evening from the old business
section of the agenda. Chairman Sutton gave the following description of the item:

e CASE NO: TA 03-20 is a_proposal by thesxCommunity Development Planning
Staff to amend the Unified Development Ordinance, specifically Article II
Interpretations and Definitions‘and, Article XI"Development Standards adding
language to define and regulate food trucks.

Commissioner White made a motion to delaysaction to,give staff time to conduct
research on the text amendment due to recent change at the executive level, which
would allow staff time to research and redefine what was previously being worked
on before said change ‘aceurred.

Plannér Long statedthat due'toithe change inleadership that took place, staff had
to change their priorities in order to complete all projects necessary with change
of staff. Planner Long explained there were several projects that applicants were
counting on-staff for their full attention on that staff had to give priority to at the
time. Planner Long stated that she also wanted more time to conduct the necessary
research on the proposed text amendments in order to put her best foot forward.

Planner Long stated that if the commission allows for this delay, then she would
be able to have it completed in a couple months.

Commissioner White stated that he will let his motion stand.

Chairman Sutton presented Commissioner Whites Motion to table case TA 03-20
and asked for a second motion. Vice Chairman Biggs seconded the motion. ALL
IN FAVOR: BIGGS, WHITE, STALLINGS. NONE OPPOSED. MOTION
CARRIED.

Page 9 of 11
Planning Commission Minutes
Tuesday, February 2, 2021



Chairman Sutton moved on to the second item of the evening from the old business
section of the agenda. Chairman Sutton gave the following description of the item:

e CASE NO: TA 04-20 is a request by the Community Development Planning
Staff to amend the Unified Development Ordinance, specifically ARTICLE
XI Development Standard, SECTION 11-4.12 to modify the design
standards for automotive repair services.

Commissioner White made a motion to delay action CASE NO: TA 04-20.
Chairman Sutton reiterated the motion made by Commissioner White and asked
for a second. Vice Chairman Biggs seconded the motion. ALL IN FAVOR: WHITE,
STALLINGS, BIGGS. NONE OPPOSED. MOTION CARRIED

Chairman Sutton moved on to the third item of the evening from the old business
section of the agenda. Chairman Sutton gave the following description,of the item:

e CASE NO: TA 06-20 is a request by the Community Development Planning
Staff to amend the Unified Develepment Ordinance, specifically ARTICLE
XI Development Standard, SECTION:\11 to modify the sign standards.

Commissioner White made a, motion“to delay action, CASE NO: TA 06-20.
Chairman Sutton reiterated the motion made by Commissioner White and asked for
a second. Vice Chairman Biggs seconded the motion. ALL IN FAVOR: WHITE,
STALLINGS, BIGGS. NONE OPPOSED. MOTION CARRIED

This concluded the old business section of theyagenda.

Planner Long stated that she did not'have much to report, however, she proceeded
forward with formal introductions of Ms. Deborah Malenfant, the department’s new
interim Community, Development Director and the department’s new secretary to
the Commission and administrative assistant, Mr. Brian Hall.

This concluded staff report.

Chairman Sutton thanked staff for their continued excellent performance even in
time of transition. Chairman Sutton also addressed the Commission regarding the
area’s updates on COVID and the precautions that needed to continue to reduce
the spread of the virus.

This concluded the Chairperson’s Report.

Page 10 of 11
Planning Commission Minutes
Tuesday, February 2, 2021



Commissioner Stallings addressed the Commission and stated that she asked
Planner Long to add the dog park concern on the agenda. Commissioner Stallings
stated that she remembered at one times plans for a dog park and wanted to know
where that project went and any updated that staff could provide.

Staff provided the commission a copy of a memo that was addressed to Council in
May of 2020 and the project specifics that were presented.

Staff also stated to the Commission the concerns that the Council had with the
project at the time.

Staff and the commission discussed different general scenatrios of public and private
owned dog parks and the underlined concernsiwith each.

Commissioner Stallings asked how she would go about asking for support of such
use from a public perspective.

Interim Director Malenfant stated justifrom a public perspective, the first place to
start for support would be speaking to your, contingents:

This concluded the membeér.concerns.

Chairman Sutton asked there was any remaining comments from the Commission
or staff.

Chairman Sutton asked. if there.was a motion,onthe floor to adjourn.

Commissioner, White made a motion,to ADJOURN the Tuesday, February 2, 2021
Planning Commission Meeting. Commissioner Biggs seconded the motion. ALL IN
FAVOR: WHITE, BIGGS, AND STALLINGS. NONE OPPOSED. MOTION CARRIED

Planning Commission adjourned at approximately 5:00 pm.

Respectively Submitted,

Brian Hall, Secretary to the Commission

Kellen Long, Planner II

Page 11 of 11
Planning Commission Minutes
Tuesday, February 2, 2021



N
NS

Planning Commission Minutes
Tuesday, February 2, 2021




